Using Social and Behavior Change to Foster Trust in Sexual and Reproductive Health

Evidence Synthesis and Recommendations

A TECHNICAL REPORT





Table of Contents

1 Acknowledgements & Acronyms

2 Key Definitions

3 Background

- 3 What is the Value of Understanding Determinants and Outcomes of Trust?
- 4 Methods
- 5 Defining Trust and Its Components

6 Evidence and Findings

- 7 SRH Outcomes of Trust
- 9 Consequences of Lack of Trust
- 9 Determinants of Trust
- 19 Cross-Cutting Determinants: Perceptions of Quality of Care
- 20 Adolescents and Youth

21 Opportunities for Using SBC to Foster Trust in SRH Service Delivery Settings

- 21 General Recommendations
- 21 Recommendations for Program Implementers Working on Service Delivery
- 24 Recommendations for Program Implementers Working on Policy and Normative Issues

25 Opportunities for Further Research

25 Conclusion

26 References

30 Appendices

- 30 Appendix 1: Consultation Participants
- 31 Appendix 2: Illustrative Interventions Towards Elevating Practice of Client Centered and Respectful Care
- 32 Appendix 3: Suggested Tools and Resources to Help Build and Include Trust in Reproductive Health

Acknowledgements

Breakthrough ACTION would like to acknowledge Oluwakemi Akagwu, Sarah Kennedy, and Antje Becker-Benton for authoring this document and Olivia Soule for conducting the literature review the report is built on. Breakthrough ACTION will also like to thank Heather Hancock, Bronwyn Pearce, Suruchi Sood, Kamden Hoffmann, Pauline Njoroge, Jimmy Mvuezolo and Jamie Bonifacio for their technical review and valuable contributions to earlier drafts. Breakthrough ACTION gratefully acknowledges Rebecca Pickard for her detailed copyediting as well as Mark Beisser and Acacia Betancourt of Brevity & Wit for the graphic design. Additionally, Breakthrough ACTION gratefully acknowledges the generous insights that 32 technical experts and their affiliated organizations (listed in Appendix 1) contributed to this global evidence summary during three technical consultation sessions.

RECOMMENDED CITATION:

Breakthrough ACTION. (2023). Using social and behavior change to foster trust in sexual and reproductive health: A technical report. <u>https://breakthroughactionandresearch.org/</u>using-sbc-to-foster-trust-in-srh-evidence-synthesis-and-recommendations

Acronyms

ССР	Johns Hopkins Center for Communication Programs
CHW	Community health worker
QI	Quality improvement
SBC	Social and behavior change
SEM	Socio-Ecological Model
SGM	Sexual and gender minorities
SRH	Sexual and reproductive health
USAID	United States Agency for International Development

This technical report is made possible by the generous support of the American people through the United States Agency for International Development (USAID). The contents are the responsibility of Breakthrough ACTION and do not necessarily reflect the views of USAID or the United States Government.

Key Definitions

Agency: Agency involves individuals or groups being aware of their ability to make choices, set individual or collective goals, and take action to reach those goals. These choices, goals, and actions are informed and affected by internal and external resources (e.g., resilience, social support) and social norms.¹

Community health worker: Community health workers (CHWs) are health care providers who live in the community they serve and receive lower levels of formal education and training than professional health care workers such as nurses and doctors.²

Determinants of trust/mistrust: A factor that either leads to, enables, or acts as a barrier to trust.

Health care providers: Health care providers are individuals who provide services, products, or information with the aim of promoting, protecting, and improving health. Health care providers constitute a diverse group of individuals who operate in different settings with distinct roles and varied levels of training.³

Provider behavior: Provider behavior refers to the way that providers act in response to people or situations in the course of delivering health care services to clients.

Perception of care quality: Patients' (i.e., clients') view of services received and the results of the treatment.⁴

Respectful care: Care is respectful if it maintains all individuals' dignity, privacy, and confidentiality; ensures that interactions with individuals or carers enhance informed decision making, without inducement or coercion; promotes continuous support (as appropriate); is compassionate and responsive to their preferences, needs, and values; and is free from stigma, discrimination, mistreatment, and harm.⁵

Self-efficacy: Self efficacy is a concept originally proposed by the psychologist Albert Bandura and refers to an individual's belief in their capacity to act in the ways necessary to reach specific goals.⁶

Social accountability: Collective efforts of individuals and communities (i.e., rights holders) to hold service providers, government officials, and other decision makers (i.e., duty bearers) to account for the quality, effectiveness, and equitable provision of services.⁷

Social and behavior change: An evidence-driven approach to improve and sustain changes in individual behaviors, social norms, and the enabling environment. Social and behavior change (SBC) programs follow a systematic process to design and implement interventions at the individual, community, and societal levels that support the adoption of healthy practices. These programs employ a deep understanding of human behavior that draws on theory and practice from a variety of fields, including communication, social psychology, anthropology, behavioral economics, sociology, human-centered design, and social marketing.⁸

Social distance: Social distance refers to the extent to which people experience a sense of familiarity (nearness and intimacy) or unfamiliarity (farness and difference) between themselves and people belonging to different (social, ethnic, occupational, and religious) groups from their own.⁹

Background

What is the Value of Understanding Determinants and Outcomes of Trust?

The <u>Global Shared Agenda for Social and Behavior Change in Family Planning</u> identifies fostering a supportive environment for sexual and reproductive health (SRH) as a priority area.¹⁰ Trust between communities—health facilities, clients and-<u>health care providers</u>—is a key component of a supportive environment. Trust shapes provider and client behavior both within and outside facilities and considerably impacts acceptance,¹¹ initiation and continued use of SRH services,¹²⁻¹⁵ experience¹⁶ and quality of care, and increased client satisfaction and confidence in the health system/provider.^{12,17-24} Evidence shows that trust also influences both adoption and maintenance of beneficial health behaviors and positive health outcomes.^{11,20,24} It can yield positive benefits for providers, such as improving work satisfaction and collaboration.^{25,26}

Despite evidence supporting the positive impacts of trust in SRH service delivery, documentation is lacking on how providers incorporate trust into the planning and provision of SRH services. Furthermore, to date, little data is available on the impact of <u>SBC</u> approaches on building, fostering, and maintaining trust in SRH service delivery environments. As a result, SBC practitioners lack consensus, focus, and guidance on how to build and maintain trust in SRH using SBC approaches. Practitioners need to clearly understand what drives trust within SRH service delivery settings and how trust shapes SRH demand, client–provider and community–facility interactions, contraceptive use, and client and provider behavior. They also need pragmatic and context-relevant programmatic guidance on how to better foster trust in SRH-focused SBC programs. That understanding will equip them to design systematic and evidence-informed approaches that intentionally set up SRH service delivery settings to holistically enable, build, and sustain trust between clients, communities, health providers, and health facilities.

Breakthrough ACTION Overview

Breakthrough ACTION is an eight-year (July 2017 to July 2025) global project, funded by the USAID. The project accelerates the use of social and behavior change through state-of-the-art, evidence-based tools and processes that encourage the adoption of healthy behaviors, while addressing structural barriers and underlying social and gender norms that prevent uptake of services and positive health practices.

The project is a partnership led by Johns Hopkins Center for Communication Programs (CCP) in collaboration with Save the Children, ThinkPlace US, ideas42, Camber Collective, International Center for Research on Women, and Viamo.

To further understand this priority area and address this gap, Breakthrough ACTION conducted a literature review and led three technical consultations with SRH and SBC experts. These activities validated evidence on the determinants of trust, trust outcomes, and opportunities to use SBC to foster trust in SRH. This technical report summarizes the evidence synthesized from the literature review and technical consultations and provides recommendations for program implementers on using SBC to foster trust in SRH settings. The report also identifies gaps warranting further exploration.

Methods

Breakthrough ACTION conducted a rapid literature review to synthesize the evidence around the role of trust in fostering a supportive environment for SRH, particularly in the service delivery context. The review considered the structural components of trust (e.g., accessibility, equity, quality and continuity of care, safety of the setting, policies, health systems management) as well as intra- and interpersonal modalities, including factors related to accountability, compassion and empathy, and social and gender norms. The literature review explored the following questions:

- What are the determinants of trust between clients, communities, and providers or health facilities at different levels of SRH service delivery?
- What are the mechanisms of trust?
- How does the existence of trust impact SRH outcomes for clients, communities, and providers?
- How can trust improve between clients, communities, and providers/health institutions? What is the role of SBC in fostering or improving trust?

Project staff identified 69 articles that met the inclusion criteria. These articles were from research or programs in six regions: Europe, Asia, South America, sub-Saharan Africa, the Middle East and North Africa, and North America. In May 2023, the study team held three technical consultative workshops with 32 experts to share and validate the findings from the literature review, hear from experts' experiences, and co-develop recommendations for focusing on trust within SRH. The participants represented a diversity of perspectives, including those from francophone West Africa, Sub-Saharan Africa, Europe, Asia, and Latin America (Appendix 1 contains more details on participants).

To frame the analysis and synthesis of identified determinants of trust, Breakthrough ACTION drew inspiration from various versions of the Socio-Ecological Model (SEM) (**Figure 1**).^{27,28} The project used the following levels to categorize the determinants of trust: individual, interpersonal, organizational/ service delivery, community, and policy/enabling environment.

FIGURE 1

The Socio-Ecological Model for Service Delivery^{27,28} and also adapted from the U.S. Centers for Disease Control and Prevention.

Definitions of Socio-Ecological Model Levels

Individual: Client and provider characteristics.

Interpersonal: Clients' and providers' families, peers, and social networks. It also includes client–provider and provider–provider relationships and interactions.

Community: Relationships and interactions between organizations and people.

Organizational/service delivery: Factors that operate at the organizational, institutional, or service delivery environment level.

Policy/enabling environment: Local and national laws, public policies, and emergencies arising from conflicts or disasters.



Defining Trust and Its Components

The literature on trust is vast and multidisciplinary, with contributions from researchers in psychology, sociology, education, communication studies, political science, anthropology, and behavioral economics, among others, and each field has made a unique contribution. The lack of a single, streamlined definition for trust creates challenges for conducting programming and evaluation around trust and its determinants.

Put simply, trust refers to a firm belief in the reliability, truth, and ability or strength of someone or something.²⁹ Trust is dynamic and influenced by numerous social, structural, psychological, behavioral, and contextual variables which cause trust to change over time.³⁰ Given its complex, multi-dimensional nature, trust variables can be difficult to define and measure.

Trust takes two forms: (1) interpersonal trust and (2) impersonal trust. Interpersonal trust is the trust placed in other people and the extent to which a person ascribes credibility to other people and expects positive outcomes in the context of social interactions.³¹ Interpersonal trust underlies a client's belief that service providers are credible and can be held to their word.³²

On the other hand, impersonal trust is trust in an institution or system. It includes trust in an institutionally established relationship between professionals and clients based on the social recognition of the trustworthiness of an occupation.³³ While the two can overlap considerably, interpersonal trust is typically influenced by factors at the individual, interpersonal and community SEM levels while factors at the SEM levels of both service delivery/organization and policy/enabling environment influence impersonal trust.

Trust in the context of health service delivery has varied dimensions, including feelings about competence, responsibility, control, disclosure, and confidentiality.^{34,35} Another dimension of trust is source credibility, which is the perceived reliability of a source of information assessed by expertise, knowledge, reputation, and perceived intent or reliability, among other factors.^{36–38} Source credibility is particularly relevant when considering facility or service promotion efforts. Numerous determinants feed into the development and maintenance of trust.³⁰ These variables and their weight of importance differ between individual and community contexts and feed into how trust changes over time. This indicates that levels of trust are not static, but trust can be lost and can either increase or decrease with changing circumstances or influences.³⁰

Evidence and Findings

This section details findings from the literature review and technical consultations, including the outcomes of trust and determinants at each level of the SEM. Most materials included in the review did not attempt to map determinants and outcomes of trust into the two categories of trust (interpersonal or impersonal), and findings often overlapped and intertwined. However, in general, determinants at the individual, interpersonal, and community SEM levels link to interpersonal trust, while impersonal trust typically operates more at the service delivery/organizational and policy/ enabling environment SEM levels.

Insights: Outcomes and Determinants of Trust

- Evidence shows overwhelmingly that trust in the context of SRH service delivery majorly contributes to achieving service delivery goals, including helping clients choose the right contraceptive method for them and the adoption of safer sex practices by adolescents.
- The magnitude and relevance of specific trust determinants is nuanced and highly dependent on the social context as well as community/client characteristics.
- Clients' trust journeys begin before the service encounter and are influenced by the perceptions of their social networks, the communities they belong to, and their lived experience of the structural components of trust.
- Events, interactions, and the service environment clients experience and observe during utilization of SRH services can reinforce or negate their perceptions to trust/mistrust.
- <u>CHWs</u> are able to foster trust in ways that facility-based providers are unable to by leveraging their community ties in shaping clients' acceptance of SRH services, perceptions of care, and trust of health providers and the health system.
- Provider-provider dynamics and interactions informed by institutional power dynamics impact clients' experience of care and trust of SRH services.
- A safe space for joint priority setting and decision making between clients/communities and providers/health facilities and systems for accountability foster trust.
- Systemic mistrust arising from factors outside of SRH services—such as systemic discrimination, power imbalances, corruption and lack of accountability in government institutions, political unrest, and handling of public health emergencies—spills into perceptions of trustworthiness of SRH services.

SRH Outcomes of Trust

Trust in the SRH service delivery setting yields positive outcomes for clients, providers, and communities, including increased client confidence in and satisfaction with both communitybased and facility-based health care providers and acceptance and use of SRH services. For providers, increased trust (by clients and between providers) improves their communication with clients/communities, credibility, quality of care provided, and job satisfaction.

Breakthrough ACTION identified outcomes associated with the existence of trust, as highlighted in the following examples:

Increased client/community use of SRH services: Trust is a key factor facilitating utilization
of SRH services. A study in Madagascar showed that trust in service providers and their skills
enabled first time young parents to utilize SRH services such as skilled birth attendants.¹³ Trust
between client and providers can enable use of SRH services by clients who desire secrecy and

do not want to be identified as users of these services. For example, a study in Ghana showed that trust enabled covert contraceptive users (such as adolescents or women whose spouses disapproved of use) to continue to utilize modern contraceptive methods as they believed providers would maintain confidentiality about their use.³⁹

- Increased client/community confidence in health system and provider: Client and community confidence in providers and the larger health system is linked to trust of their competence or skills in delivering SRH services. This may stem from client positive experiences or the social recognition of trustworthiness of health professionals. For example, a study in Myanmar showed communities had increased confidence that their birthing needs would be met by CHWs because they trusted the CHWs' ability to conduct safe deliveries and administer misoprostol to control postpartum hemorrhage if needed.¹⁷ Likewise, participants in a study in Nigeria were confident about the contraceptive services they received because they trusted service providers would only provide methods with established safety.⁴⁰
- Improved adoption and maintenance of beneficial health behaviors: Trust enables adoption and maintenance of beneficial health behaviors as clients utilize SRH services that support practice of these behaviors. For example, trust in providers enables adolescent and youth engagement with SRH services and the use of safer sex practices.²⁰
- Increased client access to SRH services: Trust increases client and community access to SRH services. Increased access is often a product of clients' improved acceptance of SRH services, which trust also supports. Additionally, trust of CHWs further enhances access, because working with a local CHW enables clients to utilize certain SRH services closer to their homes and without traveling to a health facility, overcoming possible monetary and time constraints related to traveling to a health facility. For example, a study in Zambia showed community members and adolescents are more likely to accept community-based SRH education and contraception when CHWs are trusted.¹¹
- Improved client willingness to disclose information to providers that may affect treatment decisions: Provider decisions about course of action or care for clients are dependent to a large extent on the information they receive during provider–client interactions. Trust increases clients' willingness and comfort in disclosing information about their SRH, which can be vital for determining the best services or treatment to offer.^{20,41} For example, Latina respondents to a survey in the United States indicated that those who trusted their service providers were more comfortable discussing sensitive issues and more likely to disclose important personal sexual and reproductive information to them.⁴¹
- Increased <u>client agency</u> and <u>self-efficacy</u>: Trust enhances client participation in decision making about their use of SRH services and their health which increases their agency. For example, a study of a SRH education program in the Dominican Republic found that trust enabled participants to better understand concepts being discussed and facilitated clients speaking out or asking questions for clarification as they felt safe with providers.¹³
- Improved provider work satisfaction: Client trust in providers and trust between different cadres of providers creates an enabling work environment for providers, which has a bearing

on their work satisfaction and motivation. For example, a study noted that community leader trust in CHWs increased CHW work satisfaction as they feel recognized and respected, which motivated them to work harder.¹¹ Additionally, trust between providers increases collaboration and cooperation between them which also contributes to work satisfaction.

- Improved credibility of providers among community members: Trust helps clients and communities view providers as credible and reliable sources of information, which can increase clients' desire to seek services and willingness to adopt and maintain healthy behaviors. Provider credibility and legitimacy is also bolstered when clients and communities perceive that respected community influencers trust providers, demonstrating some transference of trust. For example, when reliable community leaders trust and accept CHWs, community members see CHWs as more credible, which further facilitates community trust in providers and utilization of services they provide.¹¹
- Achievement of positive SRH health outcomes: The outcomes of trust discussed above such as increased utilization of SRH services and products (e.g., contraceptives, antenatal care and skilled birth attendance) and the adoption of beneficial health behaviors feed into the achievement of positive health outcomes, such reducing unwanted pregnancies and increasing maternal and child survival due to a reduction in SRH-related mortality and morbidity.^{43,44}

Consequences of Lack of Trust

Lack of client trust in SRH services is a barrier to utilization of SRH services and positive reproductive health outcomes. Both lack of trust and breaches of trust by providers or health facilities result in client and community reluctance to listen to and accept messages on SRH,^{11,20} low utilization of SRH services, and concealment of medical information from providers.^{20,23,41} Lack of trust can also increase the cost of accessing SRH services. For example, a study in China indicated that absence of trust in primary care facilities resulted in communities bypassing these to seek care at higher tier hospitals.¹⁵

Determinants of Trust

Through the literature review, Breakthrough ACTION identified factors at all levels of the SEM that influence SRH-related client–provider and community–health facility trust. Consultation participants further validated and expanded on these determinants. These are not siloed; rather, such factors interact within and across the different SEM levels and collectively impact trust.

In addition, trust in the SRH service setting is not static but can change over time. The various determinants of trust identified collectively exert influence on trust maintenance, increase, or loss. Determinants acting as enablers would maintain or increase trust while determinants which are barriers prevent the development of trust or can lead to the loss of trust.

Individual-Level Determinants

Individual-level factors for providers and clients, such as demographic factors, beliefs and biases, past experiences, and provider competence, influence trust and shape clients' perceptions of trustworthiness and experience of care (**Figure 2**).



• Clients' and providers' demographic characteristics, beliefs, and social status determine social distance between clients and providers, perceptions of trustworthiness, and whether trust exists in a client–provider relationship. Several articles identified demographic characteristics of providers and clients (e.g., gender, age, ethnicity, language, race) as determinants of trust, though the exact impact on trust is determined by (1) the service delivery and community context and (2) the population receiving services. For example, adolescents and young persons prefer and are more likely to trust providers who they see as peers, who are closer to their own ages.^{44–46} Older clients are more likely to trust older providers because they correlate higher competency with older age/greater years of experience^{26,45} and they perceive that older providers are more respected in the community due to their age.^{45,47} In some contexts, older clients expect older providers will be more discrete and less likely to talk about their clients to others.⁴⁵ In addition, demographic characteristics impact social distance, which is one of the factors determining how provider and client attributes interact and play out. In many instances, decreased social distance emanating from common client/community and provider demographics and norms increases familiarity, respect, and trust between clients and providers.^{22,42}

• A positive perception of provider and institutional competence is essential for trust:

Typically, clients assume provider or institutional competence via virtue of societal recognition of training and certifications received which enables trust.^{40,48} This assumption and trust is maintained when clients/communities perceive providers deliver services with competence.⁴⁰ For CHWs, linkage to and supervision by the formal sector buttresses client/community perception of competence and trust.¹⁹ On the other hand, service encounters leading clients/communities to question provider/institutional competence is a barrier to trust. Clients' perception of provider competence is often shaped by the proxy of positive health outcomes after utilization of SRH services such as having a well baby and mother after child birth,^{26,47} providers' successful management of complications,²⁶ years of provider experience,²⁶ and providers' ability to provide current health information.²¹

- Clients' beliefs and biases about SRH and their experiences accessing SRH services frame trust. Clients' beliefs about the trustworthiness of providers or health services may be shaped by personal and normative beliefs, including those about the inherent trustworthiness of health providers^{40,48} and about beneficial or detrimental effects of health commodities such as contraceptives and vaccines,⁴⁸ religious beliefs,⁴⁹ social norms, and their personal biases based on past experiences accessing SRH services.^{26,50} For example, clients who were actively listened to and attended to with respect and dignity while accessing SRH services are more trusting when they need to use SRH services again.¹⁹ Consultation participants noted clients' observations and perceptions of interactions between providers and other clients relate to trust, as observing positive or negative interactions between other clients and providers can build or impede it.
- Marginalized or exploited groups may have negative experiences with the health system due to systemic and structural inequities and discrimination, and this contributes to their perception of the trustworthiness of providers or health facilities.^{18,51} Distrust arises from the historically poorer treatment (by health providers and the system as a whole) of people who are marginalized, experiencing poverty or holding lower socioeconomic positions, or otherwise face discrimination and stigma due to factors such as race, tribe or ethnicity, social class, immigration status, HIV status, and level of education.^{18,52} Adolescents and youth also have historically faced discrimination due to age.
- Client trust is influenced by their perceptions of the motives and ethics of providers and health facilities. Undergirding trusting interactions are the assumptions that providers put the best interest of clients and communities front and center and adhere to a professional code of conduct.^{26,48} Trust is inhibited when clients find reasons to question these assumptions. For example, a study from Bangladesh cited public sector health workers as more trusted than those working in the private sector because community members see private sector providers as profit-oriented and more interested in financial gain.⁵³ Similarly, in Kenya, providers' adherence to expected codes of conduct (ethics) was cited as an enabler to client–provider trust, while acceptance of bribes or other unethical practices emerged as barriers.^{26,53}

Interpersonal-Level Determinants

Interpersonal-level determinants affect the quality of provider–client relationships, client agency/decision making around SRH, and clients' experience of care (**Figure 3**).



- Clients have expectations about how providers should treat them and the types of interactions they should experience before, during, and after accessing health services with a provider (such as during follow-up for contraceptive side effects). Trust builds when these expectations are met and hindered when these expectations are not met. Clients' expectations for how they should be treated include the desire for high-quality, respectful care. Respectful care has several dimensions, including compassion, empathy, and confidentiality, as well as respect for clients' preferences, autonomy, and culture.^{16,54,55} Expanding on this, consultation participants mentioned that other workers in the SRH setting who are not direct service providers (i.e., administrators and custodians) ability and willingness to show clients empathy and compassion in order to foster a trusting environment also affects clients' trust of providers and the system or services.
- Familiarity formed through repetitive, client-provider connections and lasting, meaningful relationships are important to building and sustaining trust. In the literature, familiarity with providers and the lasting, meaningful relationships that can be built through continued contact with the same providers emerged strongly as an enabler to client-provider trust. Familiarity is formed by regular contact with providers, including seeing the same provider every time, receiving home visits, and attending provider-facilitated activities in the community. Irregular contact with providers, having to see a different provider each time, or not having a positive or existing relationship with providers emerged as barriers to client-provider trust.^{16,21,56,57} Similarly,

cadres that have closer contact with clients (like midwives and CHWs) are often more trusted.^{49,58} In some contexts, clients trust CHWs more than facility-based providers due to their immersion and reduced social distance, because the CHWs are from the same communities and share the same language, ethnicity, culture and norms.^{11,45,49} Likewise, clients with prior experience seeking and utilizing SRH services and who have developed confidence and familiarity with services are more likely to trust those services and providers, while first-time users may be hesitant to trust providers and facilities. Consultation participants also noted relatability of the provider to the client as an important determinant of trust, wherein if a client felt that the provider was relatable, they were more likely to trust them (e.g., a provider confides in a client that they use family planning and had to overcome similar misinformation themselves in order to adopt the method).

- Power dynamics between clients are a major determinant of trust. For clients, perceived shared agency and decision making with providers enable client–provider trust.¹⁸ In contrast, power and wealth imbalances between clients and providers act as a barrier to trust, especially when clients feel they lack the power to advocate for their needs and preferences. Power imbalances can be exacerbated by client deference to providers' medical expertise. Even when trust of providers is low, clients may adhere to social norms around deferring to higher status or more educated individuals, especially if they are concerned about being refused services or products.^{26,54}
- Interpersonal communication skills and communication styles of providers matter in building and maintaining trust. The literature emphasized how non-verbal communication in the form of body language, such as gestures, tone of voice, physical distance, and touch, is as important as verbal communication and shapes clients' perceptions and trust.²⁴ Respectful, empathetic communication signifies mutual respect, enables trust, and can be communicated by providers through active listening and attentiveness, and asking questions to get feedback. On the other hand, rushed communication, using medical jargon, or being vague/unclear in communication style are barriers to client-provider trust.⁴⁴ Lack of confidentiality during provider-client interactions is a barrier to client-provider trust, while ensuring audio-visual privacy is an enabler to client-provider trust.^{41,46} Additionally, the literature shared how clients mistrust providers they feel would share their confidential information with others⁴¹ or if their interactions with providers were interrupted by other facility providers, staff (e.g., nurses), or others.⁴⁶ Additionally, adolescents in particular were more likely to trust providers and facilities where they felt their information was kept confidential, either through provider assurance or by law.¹⁴ Consultation participants noted communication that is sensitive to gender dynamics and equity Facilitates this sense of assurance. Additionally, consistency in SRH messaging across different providers promotes trust.
- Clients are influenced by and often rely upon the perceptions of their social networks. Clients often consult those within their social networks, such as family and peers, as they make decisions about using SRH services. SRH information received through these social networks can be accurate or inaccurate/based on individual knowledge and perceptions. Reliance on these networks for SRH information, including who is or is not a trusted provider in the community, influences care-seeking behaviors and trust. For example, a study in Kenya revealed that neighbors' positive experiences with or trust in providers or health facilities positively influenced trust. In the same way, negative perceptions of a provider or health facility perpetuate mistrust within social networks.²⁶

- Provider–provider interactions and trust between providers affects client/community– provider/health facility relationships and trust. Trust between providers has a positive impact on the work satisfaction of providers and helps improve client–provider trust. Several factors contribute to mistrust among providers. These include unhealthy competition, poor relationships, power dynamics, and institutional hierarchies between cadres.^{19,26} These factors influence provider– provider communication and collaboration, which impacts patient care. A study in Iran reported that people perceived obstetricians as not trusting midwives' judgment, which limited midwives' agency in decision making about patients' care and their ability to provide client-centered care.⁵⁹ Another study from Kenya indicated that when clients witness discord or the use of disrespectful tones between providers, their trust in that health facility is diminished.²⁶
- Dissonance between providers' beliefs and the SRH services they offer: Another barrier to trust is perceived disparities between a providers' beliefs and biases (which are known in the community) and the services the provider is offering clients. For example, one consultation participant cited an example from Uganda wherein Catholic clients mistrusted Catholic providers who counseled them on certain contraceptive methods because that conflicted with their shared Catholic beliefs about certain contraceptives.

Community-Level Determinants

Community norms and beliefs, community–facility dynamics, community leader support, and the collective experiences of community members with SRH services are influential in shaping community and client trust in health providers and health facilities (**Figure 4**).



- Community leaders and other community members who hold power can influence the support, trust, and acceptance of health workers and SRH services in their communities.
 When trusted and respected community leaders demonstrate support and acceptance of CHWs, this enables community members' trust in CHWs and their services. Lack of support around CHWs acts as a barrier, demonstrating the strong influence community leaders have in decision making based on trust.¹¹ However, this only holds true when community leaders are trusted, respected and responsive to community needs as opposed to where community leadership is weak, less cohesive and commands little or no respect from community members.¹⁹ Also, divergent or conflicting interests between community leaders and the health facility or health workers may result in tensions and conflicting messages from leaders.
- Community norms, beliefs, and perceptions shape trust in SRH services. SRH is a sensitive topic in most communities. Community norms around who should be utilizing services, what services are acceptable, and whether SRH services are generally viewed positively or negatively greatly influences community trust in SRH services and providers. Community beliefs and perceptions about SRH services can be equally affected by direct positive or negative experiences with facility staff and service quality.
 - Social and gender norms and traditional beliefs may give rise to social consequences such as stigmatization of audiences using or promoting use of services. For example, norms around adolescent sexual activity might frame SRH providers as promoting risky behavior among adolescents and serve as a barrier to client-provider trust for non-youth clients.²³
 - There can be a trust trade-off, wherein increasing provider trust with marginalized clients may reduce trust with other clients or community members. For example, communities may mistrust providers who go against social norms which discourage sexual activity in adolescent girls and provide contraceptive services to them,²³ while adolescents and youth may experience increased trust of such providers.
 - In addition, certain gender norms and roles, including community perception of women's involvement in SRH decision making and determining family power dynamics, are considered barriers to fostering trust due to both limited access to services created by these norms as well as distrust of providers who don't conform to community norms.²⁶
- Dynamics between communities and health facilities and related sub-factors such as involvement of community leaders in decision making and past successes or failures of accountability efforts in the community, and social accountability mechanisms in place can act as barriers or enablers to trust, depending on the context. Factors that accounted for a good relationship and enabled trust included the availability of safe spaces for providers/ communities to meet,¹² the involvement of community leaders and members in decision making,^{11,60} and past success of accountability efforts or past positive experiences during service uptake.²⁶ Barriers include previous negative experiences or outcomes following the use of SRH services, unfulfilled promises, and gaps between what the community expects and what is delivered by health facilities or the health system.^{12,26}

- The extent to which communities are involved or included in decision making and priority setting about their health and health services impacts trust. Communities want to, and should be, part of the decision-making and priority-setting process. Using multiple channels and existing groups and platforms such as community action groups and health facility committees has been effective to engage communities in decision making on health service issues and enables representation of marginalized voices and builds trust.⁶¹ Engagement should be inclusive, accessible, and supportive of individuals and groups.
- The distribution of power and efforts (or lack of) at addressing power imbalances between clients, communities, health providers, and facilities influences trust. A key theme throughout the literature is the influence of power imbalances between communities and providers, and facilities' ability and willingness to address such differentials. Meaningful participation of community members in the health system must include power sharing or shifting. It also requires working with accountable community structures to understand their preferences as to how much and at what level they need to be involved.⁶²

Organizational/Service Delivery-Level Determinants

The organizational/service delivery-level determinants of trust include the acceptability and accessibility of SRH services, functionality of the service environment, and the ease of navigating organizational processes when utilizing services (**Figure 5**).



• Complex pathways to accessing and referring for SRH services inhibit client trust.

Organizational processes that create burdens or barriers to accessing care act as barriers to client– provider trust. For example, long lines at payment points, voluminous paperwork, and processes that require shuttling across several service points decrease trust in that health facility.²⁶

- The service environment can act as both a facilitator and a barrier to trust. The physical environment of a facility, including availability of resources and confidential consultation spaces, cleanliness, hygiene, and updated technology and equipment or lack thereof all build or hinder client trust. Additional service environment determinants of trust are the availability or absence of comprehensive services, client sense of physical and psychological safety, and provider workload.^{15,16,43,46,48,63} The effect of the availability of comprehensive services on trust draws from client expectation or desire that providers will be able to provide all needed services leading to better health outcomes and this is more likely when comprehensive services are available.¹⁵ For instance, respondents to a study in China had less trust for primary care health facilities as they were deemed to lack a comprehensive package of services that would meet all their health needs.¹⁵ Heavy provider workload results in overburdened providers, leading to long wait times or rushed consultations. These produce frustration and mistrust from clients.²⁶ Participants in the consultations noted that the time the service is being offered, including contextual differences in terms of when it is most convenient to access care, can affect a client's experience of care and level of trust, particularly if the service is sensitive in nature. For example, covert contraceptive users may prefer to access care outside of regular clinic hours because they do not want to be recognized by anyone from their community. The inability of providers or health facilities to meet this need limits trust among this category of clients.
- Accessibility and acceptability of channels (or modes) of SRH service delivery varies across contexts and populations, especially for marginalized and exploited persons, and this affects perception of trustworthiness. People who are marginalized and underserved or disenfranchised by the health care system (e.g., adolescents, migrants, women with disabilities, ethnic and sexual minorities, unmarried women, and others) may experience challenges accessing SRH services because of systemic barriers and discrimination, and these harm trust.⁶⁴ For example, migrant youth and asylum seekers in Sweden with uncertain legal status found it difficult to access SRH services because of a lack of knowledge, cost, or policy restrictions, resulting in distrust of providers and the health care system.⁵² This may be compounded by language and cultural differences.⁵² Participants also mentioned availability (or lack) of inclusive and appropriate SBC communication materials for these groups as a determinant of trust.
- The nature of the service itself matters. Consultation participants also mentioned that trust is more necessary or impactful for certain types of health services. For example, family planning services are considered more sensitive than antenatal care, and therefore, trust between client and provider is more critical, including focus on determinants such as confidentiality.

Policy/Enabling Environment-Level Determinants

Factors operating at the policy/enabling environment-level such as policies governing SRH services, existence and handling of natural disasters/emergencies, track records of government, accountability, and the political environment influence whether clients feel they can trust providers and health institutions (**Figure 6**).



- Policies governing SRH services are a major determinant of trust. Effective and transparent policies which ensure SRH services are equitable and accessible are essential for creating and maintaining client trust. When there are laws that protect patient–provider confidentiality and when the provision of free or subsidized services removes financial barriers to utilization, clients are enabled to trust SRH service providers.^{14,26} Consistency in these policies and communication around them assures trust-building. Policies can become a barrier when their interpretation is ambiguous²⁶ and when they restrict access and utilization of SRH services for certain populations, such as adolescents.¹⁴ Additionally, consultation participants noted how a lack of clear policies and guidance on a number of service-related factors can hinder trust. For example, the lack of laws protecting SRH rights for certain populations and policies governing access to technology are barriers to trust.
- Systemic mistrust during emergencies and disasters easily spills into SRH services. Natural or human-made disasters and emergencies such as pandemics, war, and community clashes may seed distrust in providers and the health system broadly, which cascades into SRH services.^{21,65}

Some of this may emanate from a fear of lack of safety, in which case visibility of measures to protect clients from harm enables trust. For example, a study in Sierra Leone post-Ebola showed that community knowledge of infection prevention measures such as the use of personal protective equipment and institutionalizing Ebola screening and seeing these measures in practice at health facilities enabled trust.⁶⁵ Another factor which fuels distrust is poor communication of risks and uncertainties during public health emergencies. For example, a study in rural India showed pregnant women lost trust in health workers who could not answer their questions about the effect of COVID-19 on the fetus.²¹ This, coupled with temporary shutdown of non-emergency services in the public health sector such as SRH services and high cost of the private sector, resulted in decreased access to SRH services and an erosion of trust in the health sector.²¹

- The track record of government and social institutions matters. The performance of government or social institutions, including past successes or failures and corruption or lack of transparency in the use of finances and allocation of resources, are important trust determinants.^{26,64} Clients are more likely to trust providers when governmental policies and promises are consistent overtime and not just linked to one administration, are seen to be implemented and are adapted to meet the community's needs, as well as when clients perceive they receive a quality of care that is worth their investment (i.e., providers are held accountable to provide good care). Providers are able to develop trust amongst one another when facilities are properly staffed through regulation, and provider feedback is received and acted upon by official systems and processes.²⁶
- The political environment can influence trust, and who is in power or in opposition influences trust in providers and the health system.⁶⁶ Similarly, religious norms and practices ingrained in political platforms can be barriers to trust. For example, when religious or cultural norms around SRH are ingrained into SRH services or enforced by political platforms in power, communities and clients with different norms or views encounter a barrier to trust.

Cross-Cutting Determinants: Perceptions of Quality of Care

The literature review and subsequent consultation brought to the fore the complexity and nuances of trust as some determinants were identified to be crosscutting and influenced by factors at different levels of the SEM.

Of particular note is client perceptions of quality of care. These perceptions are driven by determinants across SEM levels, including the service delivery environment and processes (e.g., adequacy of commodities, availability or lack of human resources, wait time for services, financial barriers to care), community norms and beliefs, individual beliefs, interpersonal communication between clients and providers, and the extent to which clients are involved in decision making about care. The determinants feeding into the perception of quality of care interact with each other and the weight each carries in influencing perceptions varies across clients and contexts (**Figure 7**).



Adolescents and Youth

The review particularly focused on adolescents due to the sensitive nature in many contexts of providing adolescents with SRH services and meeting their specific needs. Trust in providers and the health system enables adolescents to seek SRH services, even though care-seeking may be stigmatized or perceived negatively.¹¹

Key determinants to adolescent trust include provider behavior (interpersonal), provider communication (interpersonal), facility environment (organization/service delivery), and policies around confidentiality and accessibility (policies/enabling environment). Negative provider behavior towards adolescents—driven by social norms around sexuality, moral values, and generational differences between adolescents and providers,⁶⁷ community misconceptions about motives of providers,²³ and policies limiting adolescent access to SRH services¹⁴—can all lead to distrust and limit adolescents' ability to access SRH services.

Adolescents are enabled to trust providers and the health system when they either receive assurance of confidentiality or legislation protects it,¹⁴ as well as if they have access to service channels that allow anonymity such as online consultations,^{39,68} they have access to providers they consider as relatable or peers, and providers communicate to them in simple language devoid of medical jargon.⁴⁴

Opportunities for Using SBC to Foster Trust in SRH Service Delivery Settings

This section summarizes recommendations and opportunities for using SBC to build or maintain trust in SRH service delivery settings. These recommendations highly depend upon context but emerged as key themes. Practitioners should consider what is relevant and feasible in their given context before adapting a recommendation.

Key to all recommendations is the need to be patient. Trust in health providers and impersonal trust in health institutions builds over time and can be a long process. SBC programming in SRH aiming for scalability and sustainability should build upon existing structures of trust, incorporate new trust concepts, and evaluate and maintain trust over time. It should also adapt as necessary to ensure trust is rebuilt (when lost) or maintained.

General Recommendations

Elevate the importance of trust in SRH, making fostering trust central to SRH services.

Elevate trust as a key component of larger SBC-related interventions, including those focused on provider behavior change, community engagement, and quality improvement (QI). This requires that program implementers understand and are intentional about addressing the determinants of trust that exist at all levels of the SEM.

Design and implement multi-level trust-fostering interventions that cut across the SEM.

Collaborative and participatory SBC programs that consider the interactions between the determinants of trust at different levels of the SEM and the larger health system are likely to be more effective than interventions that do not use a multi-level approach. When planning or designing a particular SBC intervention to foster or improve trust, consider all determinants of trust at different levels of the SEM, as these interplay and reinforce each other to influence client perceptions of quality of care in that particular context. SBC programs which consider the relationships between multiple determinants at multiple levels—such as individual's beliefs and biases, interpersonal communication between the client and provider, provider competence, and community norms, as well as the larger service delivery environment determinants of trust, such as adequacy of resources and facility processes—have the potential to have more impact on reaching trust goals than programs which solely focus on one determinant or one level of the SEM.

Recommendations for Program Implementers Working on Service Delivery

Elevate the importance of client-centered and respectful care.

The literature shows and the consultations reinforced the importance of client-centered and respectful care as a crucial determinant of trust at all levels of the SEM. Therefore, program implementers and others involved in planning for or providing SRH services should strive to

incorporate respectful care in order to foster and maintain trust. This requires action at multiple levels; illustrative examples at various levels are highlighted in <u>Appendix 2</u>, with suggestions of tools to help achieve this in <u>Appendix 3</u>.

Ensure capacity strengthening for providers is empathy-based and comprehensive in its scope.

There is no one way to build and maintain trust; instead, it requires cross-cutting skills and approaches. Capacity-strengthening interventions for health care providers may include, for example, integrating an empathy-based approach into pre-service training of health care providers, emphasis on motivational interviewing techniques, building confidence in providing multiple services, trust-building activities, and informal, participatory learning approaches. Capacity strengthening should include building providers' awareness of how social distance from clients and other sociodemographic factors influence the building of client–provider trust and how they can be intentional about addressing trust during client interactions. For example, providers can reflect on and be intentional about being relatable and actively listening, inquiring about client preferences, and soliciting for feedback or questions during interactions with clients where the social distance between client and provider is wide because of language or other barriers.

Advocate for the space for clients to make a choice of receiving services from a preferred provider. Program implementers can advocate for SRH service delivery setups which allow clients to be seen by a provider of their preference or one they are more comfortable with. This could include ensuring clients can be seen by the same provider over time, because familiarity or relationship building endears trust. Consideration and planning are needed to implement this to prevent work imbalances or overburdening of some providers due to higher patient preference to see them compared to colleagues in the same workspace.

Implement a holistic approach to building trust throughout a client's journey of utilizing care.

A holistic approach considers what factors may be at play before a service encounter, during service delivery, and after service delivery. These approaches also consider influences such as friends, family members, and peers. While client–provider interactions are generally located at the interpersonal level of the SEM, they are influenced by other factors at other levels. For example, how a client interacts with their provider and processes health information is heavily influenced by their social network(s). Trust can be fostered by identifying factors that influence before, during, and after a service interaction; identifying social networks and influential individuals at all SEM levels; and finding ways to consider and address their influence on trust.

Include trust-building as an actionable step in quality assurance and improvement processes.

Platforms such as the community scorecard⁶⁹ and Partnership Defined Quality toolbook⁷⁰ provide ways for communities and health providers to jointly agree upon issues affecting use and demand for health services, and work in unison to address them through defined processes. These approaches have been integrated in quality assurance processes. Health facilities could consider setting trust-specific targets in their QI initiatives and using social accountability approaches in collaboration with communities, including those most vulnerable and marginalized, to foster trust, improve client– provider relationships, improve provider behavior, and provide adequate documentation and lessons learned. Through this process, health providers can strengthen their capacity to communicate this information to health facility management and community members.

Include measures of trust as an indicator in monitoring and evaluation efforts.

Given how trust helps achieve SRH outcomes such as the utilization of modern contraception, incorporating measures of trust as indicators in SRH and quality of care programs is valuable. SRH implementers can consider how to adapt existing trust scales such as the trust in physician scale³² for SRH services and ideal points to collect this information.

Strengthen and sustain regular dialogue between community members and providers.

Program implementers should engage with community leaders and groups to understand their priorities regarding SRH services, health messages, and policies. These dialogues should include addressing community expectations regarding standards, provider training, and certifications. Program implementers can work with communities to strengthen their capacity to communicate this information to health facility management and community members. This can be achieved through established platforms such as community health committees.

Utilize community structures, influencers, and social networks in the diffusion of information on SRH services.

Community structures such as women's groups and religious bodies are important collaborators as they are already trusted within communities and influence priority groups for SRH services.

Harness the power of new technologies and alternative methods of service delivery, such as self-care approaches.

The literature shows mobile and digital health technologies may be promising in fostering community trust in the health care system and its various components. The place of digital health technologies was reinforced during the COVID-19 pandemic, where use of telehealth rapidly increased and helped improve access to SRH services when traditional service delivery points were closed. Furthermore, digital platforms may serve as trusted channels for SRH information for populations who desire a high degree of anonymity or confidentiality, such as adolescents and sexual and gender minorities (SGM). However, practitioners must assess the credibility and accessibility of such platforms in any given context. Additionally, the literature shows that clients prefer confidentiality and agency over care decisions, including flexibility in times they access services. The role of alternative, non-traditional health service delivery methods, such as self-care, in fostering or increasing trust should be explored, as self-care offers an avenue for clients to have more control over their SRH and a more active role in decision making.⁷¹

Explore and address how power dynamics and provider–provider relationships in communities and facilities impact client trust.

SBC implementers can support managers to provide opportunities for reflection and dialogue between providers to uncover and address power imbalances which fuel mistrust among providers.

This can include providing opportunities for providers to give feedback about team setups and policies which influence intercollegial work relationships.

Recommendations for Program Implementers Working on Policy and Normative Issues

Advocate for institutionalization of social accountability approaches for setting priorities, monitoring SRH services and utilization of funds.

Social accountability fosters trust by providing a safe and neutral space for dialogue between clients/ communities and health providers/facilities. The process allows for joint prioritization of action planning to improve issues related to use of and demand for quality health services in a two-way manner and can improve empathy between providers and clients/communities. Implementers can push for systemic adoption and wider implementation of social accountability approaches by advocating for their inclusion as part of service delivery policies, especially related to client–provider interaction, provider behavior, and client's rights.

Advocate for systems that are inclusive of the needs and desires of underserved or marginalized groups (e.g., people with disabilities, adolescents, migrant women, SGM).

Populations that are often underserved such as adolescents, or subject to discrimination, such as people with disabilities or SGM face additional barriers to patient-centered and respectful care, and their unique needs may not always be accounted for in SRH resources or services, which affects trust. Developing or fostering systems that are inclusive of the needs and autonomy of these populations will enable and maintain trust.

- Advocate for initiatives that make SRH materials more accessible to people living with disabilities and other groups who lack access.
- Advocate for policies that protect the rights and confidentiality of populations who are underserved or are subject to discrimination.

Build on existing dialogues and interventions around social norms.

Social norms are highly contextual, and implementers need to engage with communities to fully understand which social norms impact trust in SRH, the strength of the impact, and how they might impact planning and delivery of SRH services and norms shifting interventions.

Opportunities for Further Research

The literature review and consultation brought to the fore gaps in understanding the determinants of trust and their interactions at different levels of the SEM. The SBC in SRH field needs further research in the following areas:

- How supervisor behavior and relationships with providers influence trust and the client-provider relationship at the organizational and service delivery level.
- Understanding the trust journey and pathways to rebuilding trust when trust is lost, including barriers and enablers to rebuilding trust.
- Mechanisms of trust, particularly across multiple levels of the SEM; different factors like client self-efficacy, agency, and empowerment; and how these factors affect a client's trust journey.
- How norms related to trust are diffused among clients and providers and what factors determine whether they abide by them.
- How individual level factors which are social determinants of health, such as race, gender and socioeconomic status, affect trust and its determinants/outcomes at the global and country levels.
- Whether institutional trust in the health system or interpersonal trust in the provider has more impact on client/community trust.
- Measuring trust more explicitly, answering the question of how to measure changes in trust (increased or decreased trust) and its impact on SRH outcomes.
- Understanding how different levels/modes of service delivery—such as facility versus community-level service delivery and public versus private service delivery—constitute enablers or barriers to trust, depending on the context.
- Trust theories from disciplines outside of public health and how they can be utilized in understanding and building trust in SRH service delivery.
- Monitoring trust in and use of Generative AI or machine learning applications such as chatbots or AI-powered virtual assistants for clients or providers in AI-provided treatment recommendations (e.g., on drug interactions or other updated medical information).

Conclusion

Trust is an essential component of a supportive SRH environment, and increasing and fostering trust in SRH environments contributes to positive outcomes for both clients and providers. Various determinants play out at different levels of the SEM which influence trust between clients, communities, health providers, and institutions. This technical report provides SBC practitioners with an overview of the determinants of trust in SRH and outlines opportunities for using SBC to address key barriers and enablers to trust within SRH services.

References

- Agency for All. (2023, March). Advancing shared conceptualizations of agency: Emerging insights [technical brief]. CORE Group. <u>https://agencyforall.coregroup.org/</u> wp-content/uploads/2023/04/AforAll-Agency-Conceptualization-Consultations-Brief_FINAL_-1.pdf
- Health Workforce UHL. (2020). What do we know about community health workers? A systematic review of existing reviews (Human Resources for Health Observer Series No. 19). World Health Organization. <u>https://www.who.int/</u> publications/i/item/what-do-we-know-about-communityhealth-workers-a-systematic-review-of-existing-reviews
- Hancock, H., Carlson, O., Hempstone, H., Arnold, B., Hoffmann, K., Gul, X., & Spielman, K. (2023). Six recommendations for provider behavior change in family planning: A commentary. *Global Health: Science and Practice*, 11(4), e2200495. <u>https://doi.org/10.9745/</u> GHSP-D-22-00495
- Gishu, T., Weldetsadik, A. Y., & Tekleab, A. M. (2019). Patients' perception of quality of nursing care; a tertiary center experience from Ethiopia. *BMC Nursing 18*, 37. https://doi.org/10.1186/s12912-019-0361-z
- MOMENTUM Knowledge Accelerator. (2022). Adopting a working definition of respectful care for RMNCAH: Summary report of a USAID convening organized by MOMENTUM Knowledge Accelerator. USAID. <u>https://pdf.usaid.gov/</u> pdf_docs/PA00ZHDX.pdf
- Carey, M. P. & Forsyth, A. D. (2009). Teaching tip sheet: Self-Efficacy. American Psychological Association. <u>https://</u> www.apa.org/pi/aids/resources/education/self-efficacy
- High Impact Practices in Family Planning (HIP). (2022, April). Social accountability to improve family planning information and services. HIP Partnership. <u>https://</u> fphighimpactpractices.org/briefs/social-accountability
- HIP. (2022, August). SBC overview: Integrated framework for effective implementation of the social and behavior change high impact practices in family planning. HIP Partnership.<u>https://www.fphighimpactpractices.org/</u> briefs/sbc-overview
- Hodgetts, D., Stolte, O. (2014). Social distance. In Teo, T. (ed.), *Encyclopedia of Critical Psychology* (pp. 1776–1778). Springer. <u>https://doi.org/10.1007/978-1-4614-5583-7_559</u>
- Breakthrough ACTION. (2022). It takes a village: A shared agenda for social and behavior change for family planning/reproductive health. <u>http://breakthroughactionandresearch.org/wp-content/uploads/2022/07/It-Takes-</u> <u>A-Village-Shared-Agenda-SBC-FP-RH.pdf</u>

- Zulu, J. M., Kinsman, J., Hurtig, A. K., Michelo, C., George, A., & Schneider, H. (2019). Integrating community health assistant-driven sexual and reproductive health services in the community health system in Nyimba district in Zambia: Mapping key actors, points of integration, and conditions shaping the process. *Reproductive Health*, 16(1), 122. https://doi.org/10.1186/s12978-019-0788-4
- Gullo, S., Kuhlmann, A. S., Galavotti, C., Msiska, T., Nathan Marti, C., & Hastings, P. (2018). Creating spaces for dialogue: A cluster-randomized evaluation of CARE's Community Score Card on health governance outcomes. BMC Health Services Research, 18(1), 858. <u>https://doi.org/10.1186/s12913-018-3651-3</u>
- Igras, S., Yahner, M., Ralaison, H., Rakotovao, J. P., Favero, R., Andriantsimietry, S., & Rasolofomanana, J. R. (2019). Reaching the youngest moms and dads: A socio-ecological view of actors and factors influencing first-time young parents' use of sexual and reproductive health services in Madagascar. *African Journal of Reproductive Health*, 23(3), 19–29. <u>https://journals.co.za/doi/abs/10.29063/</u> ajrh2019/v23i3.2
- Jaruseviciene, L., Zaborskis, A., Sauliune, S., Jarusevicius, G., & Lazarus, J. V. (2015). Changes in public attitudes towards confidential adolescent sexual and reproductive health services in Lithuania after the introduction of new legislation: Findings from the cross-sectional surveys conducted in 2005 and 2012. BMC Health Services Research, 15, 360. <u>https://doi.org/10.1186/s12913-015-1027-5</u>
- Sun, X., Meng, H., Ye, Z., Conner, K. O., Duan, Z., & Liu, D. (2019). Factors associated with the choice of primary care facilities for initial treatment among rural and urban residents in Southwestern China. *PloS One*, *14*(2), e0211984. <u>https://doi.org/10.1371/</u> journal.pone.0211984
- Goberna-Tricas, J., Banús-Giménez, M. R., Palacio-Tauste, A., & Linares-Sancho, S. (2011). Satisfaction with pregnancy and birth services: the quality of maternity care services as experienced by women. *Midwifery*, 27(6), e231–e237. <u>https://doi.org/10.1016/j.</u> <u>midw.2010.10.004</u>
- Than, K. K., Mohamed, Y., Oliver, V., Myint, T., La, T., Beeson, J. G., & Luchters, S. (2017). Prevention of postpartum hemorrhage by community-based auxiliary midwives in hard-to-reach areas of Myanmar: a qualitative inquiry into acceptability and feasibility of task shifting. BMC Pregnancy and Childbirth, 17(1), 146. <u>https://doi.org/10.1186/s12884-017-1324-6</u>

- Carvajal, D. N., Gioia, D., Mudafort, E. R., Brown, P. B., & Barnet, B. (2017). How can primary care physicians best support contraceptive decision making? A qualitative study exploring the perspectives of Baltimore Latinas. Women's Health Issues, 27(2), 158–166. <u>https://doi.org/10.1016/j.whi.2016.09.015</u>
- Glenton, C., Colvin, C. J., Carlsen, B., Swartz, A., Lewin, S., Noyes, J., & Rashidian, A. (2013). Barriers and facilitators to the implementation of lay health worker programmes to improve access to maternal and child health: qualitative evidence synthesis. *The Cochrane Database Of Systematic Reviews, 2013*(10), CD010414. <u>https://doi.org/10.1002/14651858.CD010414.pub2</u>
- Katz-Wise, S. L., Gordon, A. R., Burke, P. J., Jonestrask, C., & Shrier, L. A. (2020). Healthcare clinician and staff perspectives on facilitators and barriers to ideal sexual health care to high-risk depressed young women: A qualitative study of diverse clinic systems. *Journal of Pediatric and Adolescent Gynecology*, 33(4), 363–371. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.jpag.2020.02.012
- Bankar, S., & Ghosh, D. (2022). Accessing antenatal care (ANC) services during the COVID-19 first wave: Insights into decision-making in rural India. *Reproductive Health*, 19(1), 158. https://doi.org/10.1186/s12978-022-01446-2
- Mahmud, I., Chowdhury, S., Siddiqi, B. A., Theobald, S., Ormel, H., Biswas, S., Jahangir, Y. T., Sarker, M., & Rashid, S. F. (2015). Exploring the context in which different close-to-community sexual and reproductive health service providers operate in Bangladesh: A qualitative study. *Human Resources For Health*, 13, 51. <u>https://doi.org/10.1186/s12960-015-0045-z</u>
- McKee, M. D., O'Sullivan, L. F., & Weber, C. M. (2006). Perspectives on confidential care for adolescent girls. Annals of Family Medicine, 4(6), 519–526. <u>https://doi.org/10.1370/afm.601</u>
- 24. Vasseur, P. (2016, September). Etablir une relation de soins entre migrantes et professionnels de santé. *La Santé en Action, 437*.
- Dynes, M. M., Stephenson, R., Hadley, C., & Sibley, L. M. (2014). Factors shaping interactions among community health workers in rural Ethiopia: Rethinking workplace trust and teamwork. *Journal of Midwifery & Women's Health, 59*(Suppl 1), S32–S43. <u>https://doi.org/10.1111/jmwh.12135</u>
- Sripad, P., Merritt, M. W., Kerrigan, D., Abuya, T., Ndwiga, C., & Warren, C. E. (2022). Determining a trusting environment for maternity care: A framework based on perspectives of women, communities, service providers, and managers in peri-urban Kenya. *Frontiers in Global Women's Health*, *3*, 818062. <u>https://doi.org/10.3389/</u> fgwh.2022.818062

- Save the Children. (2018). Integrated social and behavior change framework. CORE Group. <u>https://coregroup.org/</u> wp-content/uploads/2018/06/Save-the-Children.pdf
- Bain, L. E., Muftugil-Yalcin, S., Amoakoh-Coleman, M., Zweekhorst, M. B. M., Becquet, R., & de Cock Buning, T. . (2020). Decision-making preferences and risk factors regarding early adolescent pregnancy in Ghana: stakeholders' and adolescents' perspectives from a vignette-based qualitative study. *Reproductive Health*, 17, 141. https://doi.org/10.1186/s12978-020-00992-x
- Wilkins, C. H. (2018). Effective engagement requires trust and being trustworthy. *Medical Care*, 56 (10 Suppl 1), S6– S8. <u>https://doi.org/10.1097/mlr.000000000000953</u>
- Robbins, B. G. (2016). What is trust? A multidisciplinary review, critique, and synthesis. *Sociology Compass*, 10(10), 972-986. <u>http://dx.doi.org/10.1111/soc4.12391</u>
- Nießen, D., Beierlein, C., Rammstedt, B., & Lechner, C. M. (2020). An English-language adaptation of the Interpersonal Trust Short Scale (KUSIV3). Measurement Instruments for the *Social Sciences*, 2, 10. <u>https://doi.org/10.1186/s42409-020-00016-1</u>
- Anderson L. A. & Dedrick, R. F. (1990). Development of the trust in physician scale: a measure to assess interpersonal trust in patient-physician relationships. *Psychology Reports*, 67(3), 1091-1100. <u>https://doi.org/10.2466/pr0.1990.67.3f.1091</u>
- 33. di Luzio, G. (2006). A sociological concept of client trust. Current Sociology, 54(4), 549–564. <u>https://doi.org/10.1177/0011392106065087</u>
- Hall, M. A., Dugan, E., Zheng, B., & Mishra, A. K. (2001). Trust in physicians and medical institutions: What is it, can it be measured, and does it matter? *Milbank Quarterly*, *79*(4), 613–639. <u>https://doi.org/10.1111/1468-0009.00223</u>
- Lowe, P. (2005). Embodied expertise: Women's perceptions of the contraception consultation. *Health*, 9(3), 361–378. <u>https://doi.org/10.1177/1363459305052906</u>
- Metzger, M. J. (2007). Making sense of credibility on the Web: Models for evaluating online information and recommendations for future research. *Journal of the American Society for Information Science and Technology, 58*(13), 2078–2091. https://doi.org/10.1002/asi.20672
- Metzger, M. J., & Flanagin, A. J. (2013). Credibility and trust of information in online environments: The use of cognitive heuristics. *Journal of Pragmatics*, 59(Pt B), 210–220. <u>https://doi.org/10.1016/j.</u> pragma.2013.07.012

- Johnson, T. J., & Kaye, B. K. (2015). Site effects: How reliance on social media influences confidence in the government and news media. *Social Science Computer Review, 33*(2), 127–144.
- Kushitor, M., Henry, E. G., Obeng-Dwamena, A. D., Agyekum, M. W., Agula, C., Toprah, T., Shah, I., & Bawah, A. A. (2022). Covert contraceptive use amongst the urban poor in Accra, Ghana: Experiences of health providers. *Reproductive Health*, 19, 205. <u>https://doi.org/10.1186/</u> s12978-022-01516-5
- Schwandt, H. M., Skinner, J., Saad, A., & Cobb, L. (2016). "Doctors are in the best position to know...": The perceived medicalization of contraceptive method choice in Ibadan and Kaduna, Nigeria. *Patient Education and Counseling*, 99(8), 1400–1405. <u>https://doi.org/10.1016/j. pec.2016.03.026</u>
- Julliard, K., Vivar, J., Delgado, C., Cruz, E., Kabak, J., & Sabers, H. (2008). What Latina patients don't tell their doctors: A qualitative study. *Annals of Family Medicine*, 6(6), 543–549. <u>https://doi.org/10.1370/afm.912</u>
- Henderson, J. T., Raine, T., Schalet, A., Blum, M., & Harper, C. C. (2011). "I wouldn't be this firm if I didn't care": Preventive clinical counseling for reproductive health. Patient Education And Counseling, 82(2), 254–259. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.pec.2010.05.015
- Schooley, J., Mundt, C., Wagner, P., Fullerton, J., & O'Donnell, M. (2009). Factors influencing health care-seeking behaviors among Mayan women in Guatemala. *Midwifery*, 25(4), 411–421. <u>https://doi.org/10.1016/j.midw.2007.07.011</u>
- Richards, S. D., Mendelson, E., Flynn, G., Messina, L., Bushley, D., Halpern, M., Amesty, S., & Stonbraker, S. (2019). Evaluation of a comprehensive sexuality education program in La Romana, Dominican Republic. *International Journal of Adolescent Medicine and Health*, 33(5), e20190017. https://doi.org/10.1515/ijamh-2019-0017
- 45. Kalyesubula, R., Pardo, J. M., Yeh, S., Munana, R., Weswa, I., Adducci, J., Nassali, F., Tefferi, M., Mundaka, J., & Burrowes, S. (2021). Youths' perceptions of community health workers' delivery of family planning services: A cross-sectional, mixed-methods study in Nakaseke District, Uganda. BMC Public Health, 21(1), 666. <u>https://doi.org/10.1186/s12889-021-10695-y</u>
- 46. De Jesús-Reyes, D., González-Almontes, E. (2021). Acceso, trato y atención en los servicios de salud amigables para adolescentes de Monterrey, Nuevo León, México. Papeles de Población, 28(112), 199–223. <u>https://</u> rppoblacion.uaemex.mx/article/view/14884
- Altobelli, L.C. (2017). Sharing histories—a transformative learning/teaching method to empower community health workers to support health behavior change of mothers. *Human Resources for Health 15*, 54. <u>https://doi.org/10.1186/s12960-017-0231-2</u>

- Nganga, S.W., Otieno, N.A., Adero, M., Ouma, D., Chaves, S. S., Verani, J. R., Widdowson, M., Wilson, A., Bergenfeld, I., Andrews, C., Fenimore, V. L., Gonzalez-Casanova, I., Frew, P. M., Omer, S. B., & Malik, F. A. (2019).. Patient and provider perspectives on how trust influences maternal vaccine acceptance among pregnant women in Kenya. *BMC Health Services Research* 19, 747. <u>https://</u> doi.org/10.1186/s12913-019-4537-8
- Ahmed, M., Demissie, M., Worku, A., Abrha, A., & Berhane, Y. (2019). Socio-cultural factors favoring home delivery in Afar pastoral community, northeast Ethiopia: A qualitative study. *Reproductive Health*, *16*(1), 171. <u>https:// doi.org/10.1186/s12978-019-0833-3</u>
- Kempe, A., Theorell, T., Alwazer, F. N., Taher, S. A., & Christensson, K. (2015). Exploring women's fear of childbirth in a high maternal mortality setting on the Arabian Peninsula. *Global Mental Health, 2*, e10. <u>https:// doi.org/10.1017/gmh.2015.6</u>
- 51. Stierman, E. K., Zimmerman, L. A., Shiferaw, S., Seme, A., Ahmed, S., & Creanga, A. A. (2022). Understanding variation in person-centered maternity care: Results from a household survey of postpartum women in 6 regions of Ethiopia. AJOG Global Reports, 3(1), 100140. <u>https://doi.org/10.1016/j.xagr.2022.100140</u>
- 52. Tirado, V., Engberg, S., Holmblad, I. S., Strömdahl, S., Ekström, A. M., & Hurtig, A. K. (2022). "One-time interventions, it doesn't lead to much"—healthcare provider views to improving sexual and reproductive health services for young migrants in Sweden. BMC Health Services Research, 22(1), 668. <u>https://doi.org/10.1186/</u> s12913-022-07945-z
- Joarder, T., George, A., Sarker, M., Ahmed, S., & Peters, D. H. (2017). Who are more responsive? Mixed-methods comparison of public and private sector physicians in rural Bangladesh. *Health Policy and Planning, 32*(Suppl 3), iii14– iii24. <u>https://doi.org/10.1093/heapol/czx111</u>
- Moridi, M., Pazandeh, F., Hajian, S., & Potrata, B. (2020). Midwives' perspectives of respectful maternity care during childbirth: A qualitative study. *PloS One*, *15*(3), e0229941. https://doi.org/10.1371/journal.pone.0229941
- 55. Owusu-Addo, E. (2015). Midwives' perceptions and experiences of health promotion practice in Ghana. Global Health Promotion, 22(3), 4–14. <u>https://doi.org/10.1177/1757975914543574</u>
- Ye, B., Wang, X., Wang, F., Zhang, P., Cheng, Y., Sun, Y., Jiang, H., Qin, H., Liu, A., Liu, Y., Zhu, X., Zhang, N., & Liang, Y. (2018). Patients' sense of responsibility to healthcare providers and its predictors: A national cross-sectional survey in China. *PloS One*, *13*(12), e0207361. <u>https://doi.org/10.1371/journal.</u> pone.0207361

- 57. Hamal, M., de Cock Buning, T., De Brouwere, V., Bardají, A., & Dieleman, M. (2018). How does social accountability contribute to better maternal health outcomes? A qualitative study on perceived changes with government and civil society actors in Gujarat, India. BMC Health Services Research, 18, 653. <u>https://doi.org/10.1186/</u> s12913-018-3453-7
- Vasseur, P. (2009). Le travail des sages—femmes, entre savoir technique et normes pratiques. In Jaffré, Y., Diallo, Y., Vasseur, P., & Grenier-Torres, C. (Eds.), La Bataille des Femmes: Analysé Anthropologique de la Mortalité Maternelle Dans Quelques Services d'Obstétrique d'Afrique de l'Ouest, pp. 225–260.
- 59. Amiri-Farahani, L., Gharacheh, M., Sadeghzadeh, N., Peyravi, H., & Pezaro, S. (2022). Iranian midwives' lived experiences of providing continuous midwife-led intrapartum care: A qualitative study. BMC Pregnancy and Childbirth, 22(1), 724. <u>https://doi.org/10.1186/s12884-022-05040-z</u>
- Silumbwe, A., Nkole, T., Munakampe, M. N., Cordero, J. P., Milford, C., Zulu, J. M., & Steyn, P. S. (2020).
 Facilitating community participation in family planning and contraceptive services provision and uptake: Community and health provider perspectives. *Reproductive Health*, 17(1), 119. https://doi.org/10.1186/s12978-020-00968-x
- Gilmore, B., Dsane-Aidoo, P. H., Rosato, M., Yaqub, N. O., Doe, R., & Baral, S. (2023). Institutionalising community engagement for quality of care: Moving beyond the rhetoric. *BMJ*, 381, e072638 <u>https://doi.org/10.1136/</u> bmj-2022-072638
- 62. Organizing Committee for Assessing Meaningful Community Engagement in Health & Health Care Programs & Policies. (2022, February 14). Assessing meaningful community engagement: A conceptual model to advance health equity through transformed systems for health [Commentary]. NAM Perspectives. National Academy of Medicine. <u>https://doi. org/10.31478/202202c</u>
- 63. Yodchai, K., Hutchinson, A. M., & Oumtanee, A. (2018). Nephrology nurses' perceptions of discussing sexual health issues with patients who have end-stage kidney disease. Journal of Renal Care, 44(4), 229–237. <u>https://</u> doi.org/10.1111/jorc.12257

- Govender, V., Topp, S. M., & Tunçalp, Ö. (2022). Rethinking trust in the context of mistreatment of women during childbirth: A neglected focus. *BMJ Global Health*, 7(5), e009490. <u>https://doi.org/10.1136/bmjgh-2022-009490</u>
- Nam, S.. (2016, November 29). Health system resilience: Addressing mistrust in Sierra Leone [Brief]. Options. <u>https://options.co.uk/publication/health-system-resil-</u> ience-addressing-mistrust-in-sierra-leone
- 66. Robinson, R. S.. (2019). Setting the stage for increased accountability: the white ribbon alliance Nigeria campaign to improve maternal, newborn, and child health in Niger state. Accountability Note 6. Accountability Research Center. <u>https://accountabilityresearch.org/publication/setting-the-stage-for-increased-accountability-the-white-ribbon-alliance-nigeria-campaign-to-improve-maternal-newborn-and-child-health-in-niger-state</u>
- Bationo, B. (2012). Les relations entre les professionnels de santé et les jeunes filles au Burkina Faso: Stigmatisation, normes et contrôle social. Agora Débats/Jeunesses, 61(2), 21–33. https://doi.org/10.3917/agora.061.0021
- Cao, B., Zhao, P., Bien, C., Pan, S., Tang, W., Watson, J., Mi, G., Ding, Y., Luo, Z., & Tucker, J. D. (2018). Linking young men who have sex with men (YMSM) to STI physicians: A nationwide cross-sectional survey in China. *BMC Infectious Diseases*, 18(1), 228. <u>https://doi.org/10.1186/s12879-018-3145-2</u>
- 69. CARE. Community Score Card (CSC) <u>https://www.care.</u> org/our-work/health/strengthening-healthcare/community-score-card-csc
- 70. Save the Children. 2003. Partnership Defined Quality (PDQ): A toolbook for community and health facility provider collaboration for quality improvement. Child Rights Resource Center. <u>https://resourcecentre.</u> <u>savethechildren.net/document/partnership-de-fined-quality-pdq-toolbook-community-and-health-provider-collaboration-quality</u>
- Breakthrough ACTION. (2021). Supporting sexual and reproductive self care through social and behavior change: A conceptual framework. <u>https://breakthroughactionandresearch.org/wp-content/uploads/2022/02/Support-</u> ing-Sexual-and-Reproductive-Self-Care-through-SBC.pdf

Appendices

APPENDIX 1

Consultation Participants

Abdoulaye Ousseini, Niger Country Director, Health Policy Plus

Andrea Ferrand, SBC Senior Advisor, Population Services International

Antoine Kouame, Senior Malaria Advisor, Save the Children

Beth Outterson, Senior Technical Advisor, Social and Behavior Change, Corus International

Chinelo Ndefo, Program Coordinator, Risk Reduction Initiative and Skills Empowerment

Dawood Alam, Senior SBC Communication Specialist, EngenderHealth

Djibril Ouro-Gnao, Program Officer, CCP

Harriet Komujuni, Senior Gender and Youth Advisor, USAID SBC Activity

Esrat Jahan, Technical Unit Manager, Bangladesh Programme, Handicap International, Humanity and Inclusion

Fatoumata Ngayta Diop, Health Programmes Manager, Specialist Midwifery Analyst, UNFPA Senegal

Heather Chotvacs, Technical Advisor, SBC, FHI 360

Ifeoma Chris Okafor, Senior Program Officer, CCP

Jaime Bonifacio, Jr., Family Planning and Quality Improvement Advisor, RTI International

Jimmy Nzau, Global Medical Director, Pathfinder International

Joanna Skinner, SRH and Gender Technical Lead, CCP

Josephine Lavoy, Senior Program Officer, Advocacy and services, Planned Parenthood Global Kamden Hofmann, Technical Director, SBC, MOMENTUM Integrated Health Resilience SBC Lead, Corus International

Kendra Davis, Program Officer, CCP

Ketan Chitnis, Chief, SBC, UNICEF Mozambique

Marie-Claude Mbuyi, Democratic Republic of the Congo Country Director, Pathfinder International

Martha Silva, Associate Professor, Tulane University

Mercy Manoranjini, Knowledge Management Lead, Center For Catalyzing Change

Nahida Akari, Midwife, Amel

Nyane Nonyana, Senior Monitoring, Evaluation and Learning Advisor, Jhpiego

Patricia Vasseur, International Consultant and Director, Woman Anthropology Acting for Health

Pauline Njoroge, Adolescent, SRH Officer, Save the Children

Rodolfo Gomez, Regional SRH Advisor, Latin American Center for Perinatology, Women's and Reproductive Health, Pan American Health Organization/World Health Organization

Shannon Pryor, Senior Advisor, Family Planning and Reproductive Health, Save the Children

Simor Sikwese, Pakachere Institute of Health and Development Communication

Sita Wunnava, Public Health Consultant

Yvette Ouedraogo, Gender-Based Violence Regional Advisor for West and Central Africa, EngenderHealth

Zie Mariam, President, Association of Young People Committed to Helping Disadvantaged Children

Illustrative Interventions Towards Elevating Practice of Client Centered and Respectful Care

SEM LEVEL	ILLUSTRATIVE EXAMPLES
Individual and Interpersonal	 Develop models with concrete examples of ideal provider behaviors to share with providers. Host active listening sessions with clients, providers, and facility management for clients to provide feedback to providers. Forums and activities for providers to build their interpersonal communication skills and practice approaches (including showing compassion/empathy). Using group mentorship models or empathy checklists. Develop and implement client empowerment initiatives towards achieving client awareness of rights and agency.
Organizational/ service delivery	 Develop and implement a checklist for respectful care for providers and their supervisors and ensure there are accountability mechanisms in place. Examples of accountability mechanisms include integrating these checklists into supportive supervision visits or as part of career advancement processes. Utilize environmental cues: Written cues, such as pacts or promises in facilities, can show clients that their rights are being respected and help to foster trust.
Community	 Strengthen and support existing community/facility linkages, such as community health committees and community participation in quality improvement or social accountability activities. Facilitate visioning processes with providers and community members to co-create a shared vision and solutions for respectful care and other identified priorities. Utilize social accountability approaches to identify shared priorities and keep client/community-provider/health facility feedback loops open.
Policy/enabling environment	 Institutionalize continued mentorship initiatives for providers focused on trust building and respectful care including components addressing compassionate and empathetic communication.

APPENDIX 3

Suggested Tools and Resources to Help Build and Include Trust in Reproductive Health

This appendix presents a collection of SBC-related resources and tools which were curated with and by consultation participants that can be adapted for the purpose of incorporating trust components in SRH programming.

- Achieving a Positive Experience of Care in Health Facilities for Women, Newborns, Children, and Their Families in Sub-Saharan Africa: French
- Empathways for Empathy-Building Activities Between Providers and Clients: **English** and **French**
- Provider Behavior Change Toolkit For Family Planning
- Community Action Cycle to Engage with Communities Around Their Own Priorities: Using the Community Action Cycle to Build Trust in Guinea
- <u>Partnership Defined Partnership Approach to Engage Community and Facility</u> <u>Representatives in Dialogue</u>
- Social accountability approaches
 - Community Score Card
 - iDARE Methodology

Designed by

